- SAZES MELOZIAN PRODUCTION ALEXCET

2.1.1.10.0017:13

No. 72935-7-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

State of Washington, Respondent

v.

Nen Phan, Appellant.



**BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

Andrew L. Subin WSBA No. 21436 Attorney for Appellant 1000 McKenzie Ave., No. 24 Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 734-6677

# **

### I. INTRODUCTION

•

. •

Nen Phan stands convicted of 11 counts of child rape and child molestation, and 4 counts of possession of child pornography. Because these two groups of charges were tried together, and because of several other significant erroneous rulings by the trial court, Mr. Phan did not receive a fair trial. Accordingly, Mr. Phan now appeals and asks this court to reverse his convictions, and remand the case to the trial court for a new trial.

### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred by denying defendant's motion to sever possession of child pornography charges from child rape and molestation charges.

2. The trial court erred by denying defendant's motion for a *"Franks"* hearing because the investigating detective intentionally included material misstatements in a search warrant application in order to obscure the fact that information supporting the warrant was stale.

3. The trial court erred by refusing to excuse a potential juror who had stated that she could not be fair in a case involving allegations of child sexual abuse.

4. The trial court erred in limiting the scope of defendant's

cross-examination of one of the alleged victims.

5. The trial court erred in allowing an employee of the Whatcom County Prosecutor's Office to testify as an expert witness on child sexual abuse and in allowing her to testify in generalities about how sex abusers and their victims typically act.

6. The evidence was insufficient to support the jury's verdict of guilty on Count IX, involving AD, because there was no evidence presented as to when the alleged incident supporting that charge took place.

### III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Where defendant is charged with 11 counts of child rape and molestation, and he is also charged in the same information with 4 counts of possession of child pornography, does the trial court's denial of defendant's motion for severance of charges deprive defendant of his right to a fair trial? (Pertains to Assignment of Error No. 1).

2. When a detective seeking a search warrant for evidence of child pornography relies on an informant's claim to have seen the evidence in the defendant's house, but the detective fails to inform the magistrate that the informant had not seen the evidence in question for nearly two years, is the defendant entitled to a hearing to establish whether

this misstatement / omission as to timeliness was material and intentional? (Pertains to Assignment of Error No. 2).

3. When a potential juror states that she cannot be fair, given the nature of the charges, does the trial court err by refusing to excuse this potential juror for cause? (Pertains to Assignment of Error No. 3).

4. Where the defendant seeks to establish that a child sex abuse victim had a boyfriend with whom she was sexually active, in order to establish that semen and sperm found on the victim's bed sheets may have come from the boyfriend rather than the defendant, does the trial court err by restricting defendant's cross-examination of the victim on these subjects? (Pertains to Assignment of Error No. 4).

5. Did the trial court err by allowing an employee of the Whatcom County Prosecutor's Office to testify as an expert witness, in generalities, about how sexual abusers and sexual abuse victims typically behave? (Pertains to Assignment of Error No. 5).

6. Where the evidence at trial, even when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, does not include any evidence whatsoever that a certain incident occurred with the charging period (as described in both the Information and the "to convict" jury instruction) is the evidence insufficient to support a verdict of guilt? (Pertains to Assignment of Error No.6).

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

•

**.** •

### A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On September 30, 2014, the State filed a Fourth Amended Information charging Appellant Nen Phan with fifteen sex-offenses. Clerk's Papers (hereafter "CP"), 188-192. The offenses charged, the alleged victim named for each count, and the alleged dates during which each offense occurred are summarized in the following table:

COUNT	CHARGE	VICTIM	OFFENSE
No.			DATES
Ι	Rape of a Child, 1 <sup>st</sup> degree	AP	Mar. 10, 2008 to
			Mar. 09, 2009
II	Rape of a Child, 1 <sup>st</sup> degree	AP	Mar. 10, 2008 to
			Mar. 09, 2009
III	Rape of a Child, 1 <sup>st</sup> degree	AP	Mar. 10, 2008 to
			Mar. 09, 2010
IV	Child Molestation, 1 <sup>st</sup> degree	AP	Mar. 10, 2005 to
			Mar. 09, 2010
V	Rape of a Child, 3 <sup>rd</sup> degree	AP	Feb. 01, 2013 to
			Mar. 28, 2013
VI	Rape of a Child, 3 <sup>rd</sup> degree	AP	Feb. 01, 2013 to
			Mar. 28, 2013
VII	Rape of a Child, 3 <sup>rd</sup> degree	AP	Mar. 14, 2013
			Mar. 28, 2013
VIII	Rape of a Child, 3 <sup>rd</sup> degree	AP	Mar. 14, 2013 to
			Mar. 28, 2013
IX	Child Molestation, 1 <sup>st</sup> degree	AD	Jun. 01, 2008 to
			Mar. 30, 2013
Х	Rape of a Child, 1 <sup>st</sup> degree	KP	Jun. 01, 2008 to
			Mar. 30, 2015
XI	Rape of a Child, 1 <sup>st</sup> degree	KP	Jun. 01, 2008 to
			Mar. 20, 2013
XII	Possession of Child		Mar. 01, 2013 to
	Pornography		Mar. 30, 2013

XIII	Possession of Child	Mar. 01, 2013 to
	Pornography	Mar. 30, 2013
XIV	Possession of Child	Mar. 01, 2013 to
	Pornography	Mar. 30, 2013
XV	Possession of Child	Mar. 01, 2013 to
	Pornography	Mar. 30, 2013

#### CP 188-192.

The State also charged two aggravating factors under RCW 9.94A.535, to wit: (1) that the defendant had committed multiple current offenses and the defendant's high offender score would result in some offenses going unpunished; and (2) that the offense was part of an ongoing pattern of sexual abuse of the same victim under the age of eighteen, manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time. CP 191.

Prior to trial, Mr. Phan moved to sever the 4 possession-of-childpornography counts from the other 11 counts. CP 30-36. This motion was denied. RP 24-25. Shortly before trial, Mr. Phan moved the court to reconsider its denial of the motion to sever counts. CP 64-66. The motion was denied for a second time. The motion to sever counts was renewed a third time at the close of the State's case. RP 1264. The motion was denied for the third and final time. No findings or conclusions on this issue were ever entered by the trial court.

Mr. Phan also moved, prior to trial, for an evidentiary hearing pursuant to *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154, 98 S. Ct. 2674, 57 L. Ed.

2d 667 (1978), because material information was knowingly or intentionally omitted from a search warrant application. Specifically, the lead detective was seeking a warrant to search for unlawful pornography in Mr. Phan's home. The probable cause for the search was based on AP's statement that she had seen illegal pornography in the house. However, the detective failed to inform the magistrate that AP had not seen some of this material for two years. AP's information was therefore stale, and did not establish probable cause to believe the things AP said she had seen would still be in the house at the time the detective was seeking to search. CP 37-50. The trial court denied Mr. Phan's request to conduct an evidentiary hearing into this matter. RP 45-46. No written findings and conclusions were ever entered regarding this issue.<sup>1</sup>

The case proceeded to trial before a jury, with the Hon. Deborra Garrett presiding. See generally, RP 9/22/13 - 9/30/13. The jury found Mr. Phan guilty of all 15 counts. CP 254-56. The jury also found the state had proven the two aggravating factors beyond a reasonable doubt. CP 257-259. The trial court imposed an indeterminate sentence with a minimum term of 480 months, a minimum sentence in excess of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The trial court's failure to enter a written order was an apparent violation of CrR 3.6, which states: "If the court determines that no evidentiary hearing is required, the court shall enter a written order setting forth its reasons.

standard range. The maximum sentence imposed was life in prison. CP 278-298.

Mr. Phan filed a timely notice of appeal. CP 299-321.

#### B. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

In the beginning of 2013, Defendant, Nen Phan, lived at 1230 Garland Lane, in Bellingham, Washington with his wife, Kim Phan, and their two daughters, AP and KP. RP 495-97. At that time, AP was 15 years old, RP 492; KP was 9 years old, RP 498; and defendant, Nen Phan, was in his 50's. RP 498. Kim Phan's parents also lived in the house. RP 497.

In the spring of 2013, Kim Phan traveled with her parents and her daughter KP to visit their ancestral home in Viet Nam. RP 549. AP remained in Bellingham with her father. RP 549. While Nen Phan and AP were alone together in Bellingham, they had an argument about whether AP would be allowed to visit her boyfriend. RP 550-54. Ultimately, Mr. Phan allowed his daughter to visit her boyfriend, but as a result of this argument, Mr. Phan told his daughter that he "disowned" her, and no longer considered her to be his daughter. RP 574.

A few weeks later, Kim Phan and the rest of the family returned from Viet Nam to Bellingham. For reasons that were not established at

trial, Kim Phan returned from Viet Nam having decided that she wanted to file for divorce from Nen. RP 722-23, 735. Kim and AP went to visit Donald Jones, a family friend who speaks fluent English as well as fluent Vietnamese, to seek Mr. Jones' assistance with completing paperwork to begin the dissolution process. RP 737-38.

As they were filling out this paperwork, and discussing the divorce, AP told her mother and the Joneses that she had been having sexual intercourse with her father, on a regular basis, for over five years. RP 516. Donald Jones, the family friend, heard this disclosure and immediately contacted the police. RP 1105-06.

Officer Landry of the Bellingham Police Department went to the Jones' residence to investigate. RP 835-36. AP repeated her statements to officer Landry. RP 838.

The case was assigned to Bellingham Police Detective Darla Wagner. The following morning, Detective Wagner interviewed AP. AP repeated her statements to Detective Wagner. RP 519, 1197.

AP stated that she had been having intercourse with her father every day, and sometimes twice a day, for over five years. RP 516, 527. She reported incidents of inappropriate touching, RP 526, oral sex, RP 539, anal sex, and the use of sex toys. RP 576-78. She also stated that she had seen her father downloading pornography, including child pornography. RP 542. AP indicated that she would sometimes watch pornography with her father. RP 543. However, AP told Detective Wagner that she had not seen these items for nearly two years. See Detective Wagner's report entry, CP 50, (attached hereto as Appendix A).

AP indicated that she was concerned that her younger sister KP might also be experiencing similar types of abuse from their father. RP 605-06.

KP was eventually questioned about whether her father had sexually abused her. KP stated that she also had been sexually active with her father, including both intercourse and oral sex, and that this often occurred in the bathtub or shower. RP 635-41.

KP mentioned that her friend, AD, had been sleeping over on one occasion, and defendant Nen Phan had given KP and AD a bath. RP 642. Accordingly, Detective Wagner asked AD's parents if the police could speak with AD about this. Although AD's parents were reluctant, they eventually agreed to allow AD to be interviewed. During this interview, AD stated that on one occasion, defendant Nen Phan had given her a bath, and had inappropriately touched her. RP 663.

However, AD did not establish when this occurred, neither in her testimony in court, nor in her interview with police, nor in discussions with her mother.

Nen Phan was arrested, and the Phan home was thoroughly searched, pursuant to a search warrant. RP 1199-1200. Police seized several computers, cell phones, and compact discs to search for evidence of illegal pornography. RP 1201.

•

Police also seized the bed sheets, from both AP's bed and from the master bedroom. RP 1199. The sheets were ultimately sent to the Washington State crime lab for testing.

The DNA evidence amounted to testing of two separate areas of two different bed sheets (a total of four samples). RP 1033. All four of these samples tested positive for evidence of semen. RP 1034. When the samples were compared to DNA swabs taken from AP and Nen Phan, the results were as follows:

- Pink sheet Sample 1: Inconclusive as to whether the defendant, Nen Phan, was a contributor to this sample. RP 1039.
- Pink sheet Sample 2: Defendant, Nen Phan, was excluded as a possible contributor to this sample. RP 1040.
- Orange sheet Sample 1: Inconclusive as to whether the defendant, Nen Phan was a contributor to this sample. RP 1041.
- Orange sheet Sample 2: AP was one contributor to this mixed sample. No meaningful comparisons could be made to determine who else contributed to this sample. RP 1042.

The DNA tech also discovered sperm on one of the samples from the pink sheet. RP 1043. This was significant because Mr. Phan had had a vasectomy, and does not produce sperm. RP 1048.

During trial, the defense sought to question AP about the argument AP had with her father immediately prior to her first disclosure; about the cause of the argument being the relationship she had with her boyfriend; and about her father's claim to have "disowned" her as a result of her relationship with her boyfriend. Specifically, the defense sought to inquire whether AP was sexually active with the boyfriend, and whether this was the reason her father had said he wanted to "disown" her. This testimony would have helped the defense to both (1) establish a motive for AP to falsify testimony against her father, and (2) offer an alternative explanation for the presence of semen and sperm on her bed-sheets. The defense was not permitted to inquire into this, because of the trial court's erroneous ruling that the so-called "rape shield statute" (RCW 9A.44.020) precluded this area of cross-examination. RP 563.

#### V. ARGUMENT

•

A. The trial court erred by denying defendant's motion to sever possession of child pornography charges from child rape and molestation charges.

CrR 4.4(b) governs severance of offenses. This rule states that

"the court, on application of the defendant . . . shall grant a severance of offenses whenever . . . the court determines that severance will promote a fair determination of the defendant's guilt or innocence of each offense."

The trial court generally considers a motion to sever before trial and before taking any testimony. While it is unusual to consider whether the trial court abused its discretion based on facts it could not have known at the time, Washington cases take into account the entire scope of the trial as it occurred, even after the trial court's ruling, in determining whether it was an abuse of discretion to deny a motion to sever. *State v. Frasquillo*, 161 Wn. App 907, 918, 255 P.3d 813 (2011); *State v. Sutherby*, 165 Wn.2d 870, 885, 204 P.3d 916 (2009).

"Severance of charges is important when there is a risk that the jury will use evidence of one crime to infer the defendant's guilt for another crime or to infer a general criminal disposition." *State v. Sutherby*, 165 Wn.2d 870, 883-84, 204 P.3d 916 (2009), *citing*, *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 62-63, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). "Joinder of charges can be particularly prejudicial when the alleged crimes are sexual in nature." *Sutherby*, 165 Wn.2d at 884, *citing*, *State v. Saltarelli*, 98 Wn.2d 358, 363, 655 P.2d 697 (1982). In this context, there is a recognized danger of prejudice to the defendant even if the jury is instructed to consider the crimes separately. *Sutherby*, 165 Wn.2d at 884, *citing*, *State v. Harris*, 36

Wn. App. 746, 750, 677 P.2d 202 (1984).

In *Sutherby*, *supra*, the defendant was charged with rape of a child and multiple counts of possession of child pornography. At trial, defense counsel never moved to sever the two sets of charges. The defendant was ultimately convicted at a single trial where the jury heard evidence of the child rape and molestation as well as evidence of the possession of child pornography.

On appeal, the Supreme Court considered whether defense counsel was ineffective for failing to move for severance of the charges. The court answered in the affirmative, finding that counsel was ineffective for failing to move to sever the charges. The court found that defense counsel's representation was deficient because "the trial judge likely would have granted a severance under the relevant considerations, with the result that the outcome at a separate trial on child rape and molestation charges would likely have been different." *Sutherby*, 165 Wn.2d at 884 (emphasis added). Clearly, the *Sutherby* court is instructing Washington trial courts that child pornography charges should generally be severed from charges concerning child rape or child molestation.

Having found counsel's performance deficient for failing to bring a severance motion that "likely would have been granted," the Court went on to discuss whether the defendant was prejudiced by his counsel's

deficient performance.

To determine whether severance of charges is necessary to avoid prejudice to a defendant, a court considers four factors: (1) the strength of the State's evidence on each count; (2) the clarity of defenses as to each count; (3) court instructions to the jury to consider each count separately; (4) the admissibility of evidence of the other charges if not joined for trial. *Sutherby*, 165 Wn.2d at 885, *citing Russell*, *supra*, 125 Wn.2d at 63. Here, as in *Sutherby*, these considerations indicate that severance was necessary in this case to avoid prejudice to the defendant, and to insure a fair determination of his guilt or innocence of each offense.

First, the evidence on the two different groups of charges was very different in strength. With regard to the rape and molestation charges in the first 11 counts, the State presented the testimony of the three victims, ages 16, 9 and 8. The defendant cross-examined each of the victims, attacking their memories of the events, which were distant in time, and pointing out various motivations for fabrication. The State failed to present any physical evidence to establish an independent basis to corroborate the victims' testimony. Although the jury ultimately convicted the defendant of each of the first eleven counts of the information, these convictions were based only on the testimony of the young victims, each of whom had difficulties remembering precise details and placing them in

time.

•

The evidence supporting the possession of child pornography charges was stronger. The problematic DVD's were found in Mr. Phan's house, near his computer. These possessory offenses are strict liability offenses. In defense of these charges, Mr. Phan maybe could have argued unwitting possession, an affirmative defense. In reality, however, there really was no defense to the child pornography charges, as they did not depend on the credibility of child witnesses like the other charges did. So the strength of the State's evidence on the two groups of counts was quite different.

Second, Mr. Phan offered different defenses to the two groups of charges. With respect to the child rape and molestation charges, Phan argued that he never engaged in any sexual contact or intercourse with any of the alleged victims, and that his daughters were lying, motivated by their desire to get out from under the thumb of their overly strict and overprotective father. With respect to the possession of child pornography charges, Phan did not really offer any defense. Thus, the defenses Phan presented in response to the two sets of charges were not the same.

Third, although the jury was instructed to consider each group of counts separately, such instructions are not very effective in this type of case. Sec, *Sutherby*, 165 Wn.2d at 884 (In this context, there is a

recognized danger of prejudice to the defendant even if the jury is

instructed to consider the crimes separately").

Fourth, despite the trial court's conclusion to the contrary, the evidence of the child pornography was not admissible in the child rape and molestation trial. The trial court found that the evidence would be cross admissible in separate trials inexplicably relying on the rule of "res gestae":

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