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

two year was ‘material’ and this omission led the magistrate into “a false 

finding of probable cause.” Br. of App. at 20.   

Phan’s request for a Frank’s hearing to challenge the search 

warrant was appropriately denied because Phan failed to make any 

substantial preliminary showing that the request for a search warrant was 

predicated on an intentional or reckless material misstatement or omission 

of material fact. A.P. gave two interviews to law enforcement. In her first 

interview A.P.detailed the sexual abuse she endured and explained the role 

Phan’s pornography played in the abuse. She explained Phan had her 

watch pornography with him when she was young and would often fondle 

her under her clothing while they watched it. CP 56-61.  As A.P. became 

older, she explained pornography often led to sexual intercourse between 

her and Phan. During this interview, AP disclosed it had been a year and a 

half since she had seen ‘some’ of the pornography. Id.  When AP was 

interviewed a second time, she provided investigators additional 

observations of Phan’s use and possession of child pornography. AP 



 19 

advised, consistent with the warrant application, that Phan had pictures of 

naked girls on his iPod and phone and that she had seen these images 

within the last week. Id. AP also detailed that Phan often downloaded 

child pornography to disks and gave or sold these disks to his friends. Id. 

Based on the information AP provided in both these interviews, 

investigators sought and obtained a search warrant of the Phan home. 

A search warrant may issue only upon a determination of probable 

cause. State v. Atchley, 142 Wash. App. 147, 161, 173 P.3d 323 

(2007)(citing State v. Cole, 128 Wash. 2d 262, 286, 906 P.2d 925 (1995)). 

Probable cause exists where there are facts and circumstances sufficient to 

establish a reasonable inference that the defendant is involved in criminal 

activity and that evidence of the criminal activity can be found at the place 

to be searched. Atchley, 142 Wash. App. at 161, citing, State v. Thein, 138 

Wash. 2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999). “To establish probable cause, the 

affidavit for a search warrant ‘must set forth sufficient facts to lead a 

reasonable person to conclude there is a probability that the defendant is 

involved in criminal activity.’ “ Atchley, 142 Wash. App. at 161(quoting 

State v. Cord, 103 Wash. 2d 361, 365, 693 P.2d 81 (1985)).  

Probable cause requires only a probability of criminal activity, not 

a prima facie showing. State v. Maddox, 152 Wash. 2d 499, 505, 98 P.3d 

1199 (2004).  In determining probable cause, the magistrate makes a 
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practical, commonsense decision, and is entitled to draw reasonable 

inferences from all the facts and circumstances set forth in the affidavit. 

Maddox, 152 Wash. 2d at 505. As noted, a magistrate's determination of 

probable cause is reviewed for abuse of discretion, the determination is 

accorded great deference by the reviewing court, and doubts are to be 

resolved in favor of the warrant's validity. Atchley, 142 Wash. App. at 

161, State v. Chenoweth, 160 Wash. 2d 454, 477, 158 P.3d 595 (2007). 

 Factual inaccuracies or omissions in a warrant affidavit may 

invalidate the warrant if the defendant establishes that they are (a) material 

and (b) made in reckless disregard for the truth. Franks v. Delaware, 438 

U.S. 154, 155, 98 S. Ct. 2674, 57 L. Ed. 2d 667 (1978); Cord, 103 Wash. 

2d, 366.(emphasis added.) A showing of mere negligence or inadvertence 

is insufficient to challenge the truthfulness of factual statements made in 

an affidavit supporting a search warrant. Franks, 438 U.S. at 17, State v. 

Seagull, 95 Wash. 2d 898, 908, 632 P.2d 44 (1981).   

 As a threshold matter, the defendant must first make a “substantial 

preliminary showing that a false statement knowingly and intentionally, or 

with reckless disregard for the truth, was included by the affiant in the 

warrant affidavit, and that the allegedly false statement was necessary to 

the finding of probable cause.” Id.   Specifically, the defendant's 

allegations must be accompanied by an offer of proof, indicating the 
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portion of the warrant affidavit at issue, and the offer of proof should 

include relevant statements of witnesses and reasons supporting the 

claims. Franks, 438 U.S. 154. Assertions of mere negligence or innocent 

mistake are insufficient. Id.   Rather, the defendant must allege deliberate 

falsehood or reckless disregard for the truth. Id.  

The Franks test for material representations has been extended to 

material omissions of fact. Cord, 103 Wash. 2d at 367.   Material 

omissions, similar to misrepresentations, will invalidate a search warrant 

only when made recklessly or intentionally. Chenoweth, 160 Wash. 2d at 

484.  In examining whether an omission rises to the level of a 

misrepresentation, the proper inquiry is not whether the information 

tended to negate probable cause or was potentially relevant, but, rather, the 

court must find the challenged information was necessary to the finding of 

probable cause. State v. Garrison, 118 Wash. 2d 870, 874, 827 P.2d 1388 

(1992).  If the defendant succeeds in showing a deliberate or reckless 

omission, then the omitted material is considered part of the affidavit. 

Garrison, 827 P.2d 1388. “If the affidavit with the matter deleted or 

inserted, as appropriate, remains sufficient to support a finding of probable 

cause, the suppression motion fails and no hearing is required.” Id.  A trial 

court's conclusion that the affiant did not recklessly omit material facts in 
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obtaining a search warrant will be upheld where such determination is not 

clearly erroneous. Chenoweth, 160 Wash. 2d at 484.  

Phan cannot demonstrate from this record that the trial court’s 

decision to deny his request for a Frank’s hearing was clearly erroneous. 

Phan asserted below the detective omitted the fact that AP had not seen 

‘some’ of the pornography in the Phan home in two years and that she 

believed ‘it had been discarded or destroyed’ when she applied for the 

search warrant. RP 45, Br. of App. at 20. Phan argued had the issuing 

magistrate been given this information, she would have found the facts 

supporting the search warrant ‘stale’ and denied issuing the search 

warrant.    

Nothing in Phan’s offer of proof below demonstrated this 

information was recklessly and/or intentionally omitted by the affiant. See, 

RP 45. Additionally, as the trial court concluded, the alleged omitted 

information was not material to the trial court’s probable cause finding.  

Had the issuing magistrate known AP had not seen ‘some’of the 

pornography she described for two years and that she thought it had been 

destroyed, this information would not have rendered the basis for the 

search warrant ‘stale’ because the detective also accurately told the 

magistrate AP had reported seeing child pornography on Phan’s phone, 

iPod and computer at the Phan home within the week prior to the request 
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for the search warrant. CP 56-61. Thus, the remaining information given 

to the issuing magistrate was accurate and with or without the allegedly 

missing information, supported the issuance of the warrant.  In addition to 

failing to demonstrate this allegedly omitted information was material to 

the magistrates’ probable cause determination, Phan made no showing the 

detective intentionally omitted this information with reckless disregard of 

the truth. The trial court appropriately denied Phan’s request for a Frank’s 

hearing. 

3. Phan cannot demonstrate he suffered the 

requisite prejudice to warrant a new trial from 

the trial court’s alleged error denying a ‘for 

cause’ challenge of a juror where Phan later 

excused the same juror from sitting on his jury 

using a peremptory challenge. 

 

 For the first time on appeal, Phan next argues the trial court erred 

denying a ‘for cause’ challenge of a juror he later excused from sitting on 

his jury via a peremptory challenge.  If a defendant, through the use of his 

peremptory challenges elects to cure an alleged trial court error of not 

excusing a juror ‘for cause’ and is convicted by a jury on which no alleged 

bias juror sat, a defendant cannot demonstrate the prejudice required to 

warrant reversal regardless of whether the juror should or should not have 

been excused for cause. State v. Fire, 145 Wash. 2d 152, 34 P.3d 1218 
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(2001).  Phan alleges the same error argued in Fire. Phan is not entitled to 

a new trial. 

 The denial of a challenge for cause is reviewed for abuse of 

discretion. State v. Gonzales, 111 Wash. App. 276, 278, 45 P.3d 205 

(2002). A defendant has a right to an impartial jury under both the federal 

and state constitution. State v. Roberts, 142 Wash. 2d 471, 517, 14 P.3d 

713, 717 (2000), as amended on denial of reconsideration (Mar. 2, 2001), . 

A prospective juror should be removed for cause when the juror’s views 

and or opinions would “prevent or substantially impair the performance of 

his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath.” State 

v. Hughes, 106 Wash. 2d 176, 181, 721 P.2d 902 (1986), quoting, 

Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 424, 105 S. Ct. 844, 83 L. Ed. 2d 841 

(1985). This ‘actual bias’ refers to the juror’s state of mind to be impartial 

and act without prejudice to any party in the proceeding. Id.  

 In Fire, 145 Wash. 2d 152, our state supreme court considered the 

same issue Phan asserts herein. Fire was charged with child molestation 

and similar to this case, Fire challenged a potential juror during jury 

selection who expressed difficulty remaining impartial on a sexual abuse 

case. After the trial court denied Fire’s ‘for cause’ challenge, determining 

the alleged juror could put aside the previously expressed bias concerns, 

Fire opted to use one of his peremptory challenges to remove the 
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challenged juror.  The state supreme court concluded that even if the 

potential juror should have been excused, Fire was not entitled to a new 

trial because that challenged juror did not sit on the jury that convicted 

him. Thus, the court could found Fire suffered no prejudice to warrant 

reversing Fire’s conviction. 

  As in Fire, the juror Phan unsuccessfully requested be excused ‘for 

cause’ was subsequently excused by Phan using a peremptory challenge. 

Thus, the challenged juror did not sit on the jury that convicted Phan as 

charged. Under these circumstances, Phan cannot demonstrate he suffered 

the prejudice required to warrant a new trial.   

4. Phan was not entitled to cross examine A.P. or 

collaterally prove A.P. had a sexual relationship 

with a boyfriend because this evidence was 

collateral to the issues before the jury, 

irrelevant and at best, only remotely 

demonstrated bias and Phan was otherwise able 

to explore A.P. motive and bias. 

 

 Next, Phan argues the trial court violated his right to a fair trial by 

limiting his right to cross examine A.P. on her alleged sexual relationship 

with a boyfriend. Br. of App. at 30. Phan was permitted to question A.P. 

about her complex relationship with her father including that how strict 

Phan was, that she wasn’t allowed to have friends and that Phan had 

disowned and stopped talking to her when he discovered she had a 
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boyfriend weeks before A.P. disclosed abuse. Phan cross examination of 

A.P. was only limited to preclude Phan from trying to question A.P. about 

the collateral issue of whether A.P. had a sexual relationship that A.P. 

testified her father accused her of having and that A.P. denied having. 

The trial court concluded this line of inquiry was collateral and irrelevant 

to the issues before the jury and therefore within the trial court’s discretion 

to limit.   

 A defendant has the right to present a defense and to confront and 

cross examine adverse witnesses. Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 94 S. Ct. 

1105, 39 L. Ed. 2d 347 (1974). This right encompasses the right to 

impeach State’s witness with relevant bias evidence.  State v. Buss, 76 

Wash. App. 780, 787, 887 P.2d 920 (1995) abrogated by State v. Martin, 

137 Wash. 2d 774, 975 P.2d 1020 (1999), Davis, 39 L. Ed. 2d 347.   A 

trial court may refuse cross-examination where the evidence only remotely 

shows bias, is merely argumentative, irrelevant or speculative. State v. 

Guizzotti, 60 Wash. App. 289, 293, 803 P.2d 808 (1991).  Extrinsic 

evidence cannot be used to impeach a witness on matters collateral to the 

principle issues being tried, even if the evidence may have some indirect 

bearing on motive, bias or prejudice. State v. Carlson, 61 Wash. App. 865, 

812 P.2d 536 (1991).   
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 The scope of cross-examination is within the sound discretion of 

the trial court.  State v. Portnoy, 43 Wash. App. 455, 459, 718 P.2d 805 

(1986), State v. Darden, 145 Wash. 2d 612, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002), State v. 

Franklin, 180 Wash. 2d 371, 325 P.3d 159 (2014)(an appellate court 

reviews a decision to exclude evidence for abuse of discretion even when 

the ruling implicates a constitutional right to present a defense.).  On 

review, the appellate court will determine the trial court abused its 

discretion if it based its decision on untenable grounds or for untenable 

reasons. State v. Johnson, 90 Wash. App. 54, 60, 950 P.2d 981 (1998).  

Contrary to Phan’s allegations, the trial court permitted Phan to 

explore A.P.’s conflict with Phan over the allegation that A.P. had a 

boyfriend with whom Phan accused her of being sexually active with as 

motive for A.P. making up sexual abuse allegations. RP 267, 284-5.  After 

A.P. testified on direct examination that her father accused her of having a 

boyfriend, that he had accused her of being sexually active with her 

boyfriend but that she had not had sex with her boyfriend, the trial court 

permitted Phan to confirm cross examination that AP was denying that she 

had a sexual relationship with her alleged boyfriend and to explore AP’s 

hurt and anger with Phan’s strict rules, his disapproval over her having 

any boyfriend and his decision to tell A.P. he had disowned her because 

she had a boyfriend.  The trial court limited Phan to cross examining A.P. 
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on matters that were directly relevant to the issues before the jury and to 

A.P.’s credibility and motive for making up allegations. 

The court precluded Phan from going into any details of A.P.’s 

alleged ‘sexual’ relationship with a boyfriend because it determined within 

its discretion that permitting Phan to delve further into A.P.’s alleged 

sexual conduct with this alleged boyfriend was unnecessary, beyond the 

suggestion and accusation that Phan had already made, where Phan could 

tie A.P.’s testimony together with testimony that investigators found 

semen on A.P.’s sheets that analysis did not identify as belonging to Phan. 

This evidence suggested exactly what Phan alleged. That A.P. had a 

sexual relationship not with her father but with a boyfriend and that she 

covered it up in part, by alleging she had been sexually abused by Phan, in 

order to ensure her ability to have a boyfriend and get out from under her 

oppressive father. RP 568. AP’s sexual conduct with her boyfriend beyond 

the allegation and her denial of any such relationship had no bearing on 

Phan’s guilt of a strict liability child rape or molestation allegation. Only 

evidence that bared on A.P.’s credibility or bias was appropriate. Phan’s 

cross examination as permitted sufficiently allowed Phan to examine A.P.s 

motive and bias without going into collateral matters regarding the nature 

of her alleged sexual relationship with this boyfriend. 
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Even if the trial court erred limiting Phan’s cross examination of 

A.P. on her sexual relationship with her alleged boyfriend, this alleged 

error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Franklin, 180 Wash. 2d, 

377. Child rape and molestation are strict liability crimes. Therefore, 

evidence pertaining to whether A.P. had a sexual relationship with an 

alleged boyfriend was of no relevance to whether Phan sexually abused 

her. Phan wasn’t and couldn’t seek to introduce ‘other suspect’ evidence. 

And to the extent the evidence was relevant as to A.P.’s bias or motive for 

alleging sexual abuse; Phan was sufficiently able to explore her bias and 

motive without going into the details of her sexual relationship with her 

boyfriend. Phan questioned her on her frustration with her father’s rules, 

his disapproval of her boyfriend, his unwillingness to permit her to have 

friends or be social. Moreover, Phan was able to suggest, based on DNA 

analysis, that the semen found on AP’s sheets, likely belonged to her 

boyfriend since scientists couldn’t match the semen to Phan.  Phan’s 

inability to collaterally prove A.P. was sexually active with a boyfriend, in 

contrast to her testimony, was therefore harmless beyond a reasonable 

doubt. 

5. The court acted well within its discretion to 

qualify a sexual abuse therapist as an expert 

witness and permitting her to testify in a limited 

capacity on the general dynamics of child sexual 
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abuse and patterns of abuse disclosures in 

children.

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